COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

TOWN OF ESSEX

AND

COUNCIL 4, AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES, AFL-CIO (AFSCME)

JULY 1, 2016 - JUNE 30, 2020

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE(S)
ARTICLE I - RECOGNITION	1
ARTICLE II - STABILITY OF AGREEMENT	1
ARTICLE III – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	1-2
ARTICLE IV – UNION SECURITY	3
ARTICLE V – GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE	3-5
ARTICLE VI – HOURS OF WORK	5-7
ARTICLE VII - COMPENSATION	7-9
ARTICLE VIII - HOLIDAYS	9-10
ARTICLE IX - INSURANCE	10-12
ARTICLE X – VACATION	12-13
ARTICLE XI – SICK LEAVE	14
ARTICLE XII – PERSONAL LEAVE	15
ARTICLE XIII – FUNERAL LEAVE	15-16
ARTICLE XIV – MILITARY LEAVE	16
ARTICLE XV – FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE	16
ARTICLE XVI – JURY DUTY	16
ARTICLE XVII – RETIREMENT	16
ARTICLE XVIII - SENIORITY	17
ARTICLE XIX – VACANCY	17
ARTICLE XX – LAYOFF AND RECALL	17-18
ARTICLE XXI – DISCIPLINE	18
ARTICLE XXII – MISCELLANEOUS	19-20
ARTICLE XXIII – DURATION	21
APPENDIX A – EXEMPT EMPLOYEES SALARY SCHEDULE	22
APPENDIX B – NON-EXEMPT EMPLOYEES SALARY SCHEDULE	23

ARTICLE I RECOGNITION

Section 1

This Agreement is entered into by and between the Town of Essex (hereinafter referred to as "Town") and Council 4, American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO (hereinafter referred to as "Union").

Section 2

The Town recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for the: Assessor, Assistant to the Assessor, Assistant to the Tax Collector, Assistant to the Finance Director, Assistant to the Town Clerk/Assistant Town Clerk, Administrative Assistants to the Land Use Department (Administrative Assistant to the Land Use Department I and Administrative Assistant to the Land Use Department II), Maintenance/Custodian, Sanitarian/Director of Health and Park and Recreation Director/Social Services Representative, excluding the Finance Director, the Assistant to the First Selectman, ZEO, Department Heads and all others excluded under the Act.

ARTICLE II STABILITY OF AGREEMENT

Section 1

If any Article or Section hereof is declared to be invalid or violative of any law, statute, administrative ruling or judicial decision, such declaration of invalidity shall not affect the other Articles and Section or portions thereof which shall be valid.

Section 2

It is understood and agreed that this Agreement contains the complete understanding between the parties and that it may not be amended or altered unless by mutual agreement, in writing, by the parties.

Any benefits set forth in the Town's policy manual shall not be applicable to bargaining unit members; rather, all benefits for bargaining unit members shall be set forth in this Agreement.

ARTICLE III MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

Section 1

Except where such rights, powers and authority are specifically relinquished, abridged or limited by the provisions of this agreement, the Town has and will continue to retain, whether exercised or not, all of the rights, powers and authority heretofore had by it and, except where such rights, powers and authority are specifically relinquished, abridged or limited by the provisions of this agreement, it shall have the sole and absolute right, responsibility and prerogative of management of the affairs of the Town and direction of the working force, including, but not limited to the following:

- a. To determine the care, maintenance and operation of equipment and property used for and on behalf of the purposes of the Town.
- b. To establish or continue policies, practices and procedures for the conduct of Town business and, from time to time, to change or abolish such policies, practices and procedures.
- To discontinue processes or operations or to discontinue their performance by employees.
- d. To select, hire, and to determine the number and types of employees required to perform the Town's operations.
- e. To employ, transfer, promote or demote employees, or to layoff, terminate or otherwise relieve employees from duty for lack of work or other legitimate reasons when it shall be in the best interests of the Town or the department, in accordance with other provisions of this contract.
- f. To prescribe and enforce reasonable rules and regulations for the maintenance of discipline and for the performance of work in accordance with the requirements of the Town, provided such rules and regulations are made known in a reasonable manner to the employees affected by them.
- g. To ensure that incidental duties connected with departmental operations, whether enumerated in job descriptions or not, shall be performed by employees.
- h. To establish contracts or subcontracts for municipal operations, provided that this right shall not be used for the purpose of intention of undermining the Union or of discriminating against its members.
- i. To create job specifications and to revise existing job specifications, in accordance with the other provisions of this contract.

Section 2

The above rights, responsibilities and prerogatives are inherent in the Selectmen by virtue of statutory authority and are not subject to delegation in whole or in part.

ARTICLE IV UNION SECURITY

Section 1

All employees in the bargaining unit shall, as a condition of employment, become a member of the Union in good standing or pay a service fee to the Union after the completion of a satisfactory probationary period. The service fee shall be proportioned by the Union as required by law.

Section 2

Upon receipt of a signed authorization form from the employee involved, a copy of which is attached to this Agreement as Appendix C, the Employer shall deduct from the employee's pay, twice a month, such initiation fees, dues and/or service fees as the Union shall determine.

Section 3

The amount will be certified by a representative from AFSCME Council 4, AFL-CIO, in writing, and may be raised or lowered by the Union at any time upon notification by said officer to the Employer.

Section 4

Deduction as provided in Section 2 shall be remitted to the Council 4 office of the Union no later than fifteen (15) days after such deductions have been made along with a list of employees from whom the deductions have been made, indicating their address.

- A. If for any reason an employee has no pay available from which the dues may be deducted, the deduction will take place beginning the payroll period in which he does have pay available and continuing until back deductions are made up, at which time he will return to the semi-monthly basis.
- B. The Union agrees to indemnify and to hold the Town harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits or other forms of liability, including but not limited to attorney's fees and the cost of administrative hearings that shall or may arise out of or by reason of, action taken by or against the Town that may arise as a result of complying with the provisions of this Article.

ARTICLE V GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

Section 1

A grievance is defined as any claimed violation, misapplication, or misinterpretation of a specific Section or Article of this Agreement, filed by a grievant(s), who is a member of the bargaining unit making a claim that a grievance has occurred to his or her detriment.

All references to "days" herein shall be considered to mean calendar days. If Town Hall is closed on the day on which an appeal period ends, a party's submission or response shall be due on the next business day.

Any time limits specified in this Article may be extended by mutual agreement in writing by the parties to this Agreement, provided that if a grievance is not filed within the initial period referenced in Section 4, Step 1, the grievance shall be deemed waived; or if it is not submitted by the employee or the Union to a higher step in accordance with the procedure as delineated in this Article, it will be deemed settled on the basis of the answer in the Step last considered. In the event the Town fails to respond within the time limits provided in Section 4, Steps 1, 2 or 3 of this Article, the grievance may be advanced to the next step in accordance with the procedure delineated in this Article.

Each party shall bear its own expenses for arbitration, except as otherwise provided in this Article.

Section 2

Grievances must be filed in writing. The Article(s) or Section(s) of the Agreement involved, as well as the remedy sought, must be set forth in the grievance. All grievances shall be handled in accordance with the procedures set forth below in this Article.

Section 3

Any employee may use this grievance procedure with or without the assistance of a Union representative. However, only the Union may file for arbitration.

Section 4

STEP ONE

An employee or his Union representative, if represented, or the Union may submit a grievance in accordance with this Article, to the aggrieved employee's direct supervisor (with a copy to the First Selectman) within ten (10) days of the event giving rise to the grievance, provided, however, if the employee's direct supervisor is a member of the Union, the grievance should be filed at step two of the grievance procedure.

The supervisor will render an answer to the grievance in writing within ten (10) days of the receipt of the grievance. This answer will be provided to the aggrieved employee, his/her Union representative and the First Selectman.

STEP TWO

If the aggrieved employee or the Union is not satisfied with the decision rendered by the direct supervisor (if applicable), the Union may submit the grievance in writing to the First Selectman within ten (10) days of receipt of the decision. The First Selectman shall render a written

decision within ten (10) days after submission of the grievance to the First Selectman.

STEP THREE

If the aggrieved employee or the Union is not satisfied with the decision rendered by the First Selectman, the Union may submit the grievance in writing to the Board of Selectmen within ten (10) days of receipt of the decision. The Board of Selectmen shall render a written decision within fifteen (15) days after submission of the grievance to the Board of Selectmen.

STEP FOUR

If the Union is not satisfied with the answer given by the Board, the Union may elect, within ten (10) days after the Step 3 answer, to submit the grievance to the State Board of Mediation and Arbitration to be resolved, provided, the parties agree that verbal warnings and written warnings shall not be subject to arbitration as set forth herein.

The arbitrator's award shall be final and binding. The arbitrator shall be bound by and must comply with all the terms of this Agreement and shall have no power to add to or subtract from or in any way modify the provisions of this Agreement. The cost of arbitration shall be borne equally by both parties.

ARTICLE VI HOURS OF WORK

Section 1

The workweek for bargaining unit members shall commence at 12:01 on Sunday and end at midnight on the following Saturday.

Section 2

The regular workweek for bargaining unit employees shall consist of the following*:

Non-Exempt Employees

Assistant to the Assessor (twenty (20) hour paid workweek)**

Monday through Friday: 9:00 a.m. - 1:00 p.m.

• Assistant to the Tax Collector (thirty (30) hour paid workweek)

Monday through Friday: either 9:00 a.m. - 3:30 p.m. or 9:30 a.m. - 4:00 p.m. (one-half (½) hour unpaid lunch). The regularly scheduled workweek hours (as set forth herein) shall be determined by mutual agreement between the Tax Collector and the Assistant to the Tax Collector.

• Assistant to the Finance Director (thirty-five (35) hour paid workweek)

Monday through Friday: 8:30 a.m. - 4:00 p.m. (one-half (1/2) hour unpaid lunch)

• Assistant to the Town Clerk/Assistant Town Clerk (thirty-five (35) hour paid workweek)

Monday through Friday: 8:30 a.m. - 4:00 p.m. (one-half (1/2) hour unpaid lunch)

Administrative Assistant to the Land Use Department I (thirty-two and one-half (32.5) hour paid workweek)

Monday through Friday: 9:00 a.m. - 4:00 p.m. (one-half (1/2) hour unpaid lunch)

• Administrative Assistant to the Land Use Department II (thirty-two and one-half (32.5) hour paid workweek)

Monday through Friday: 9:00 a.m. - 4:00 p.m. (one-half (1/2) hour unpaid lunch)

Maintenance/Custodian (thirty-five (35) hour paid workweek)

Monday through Friday: 8:45 a.m. - 4:15 p.m. (one-half (1/2) hour unpaid lunch)

Exempt Employees

Assessor

During all hours that the Town Hall is open to the public and whenever needed during off hours to serve the public

Sanitarian/Director of Health

During all hours that the Town Hall is open to the public and whenever needed during off hours to serve the public

Park and Recreation Director/Social Services Representative

During all hours that the Town Hall is open to the public and whenever needed during off hours to serve the public

^{*}For any of the enumerated exempt or non-exempt positions that are currently multiple positions performed by a single member of the bargaining unit, upon the severance of employment of the incumbent employee who was filling the multiple positions at the time of ratification of this Agreement, the Town maintains the right and discretion to bifurcate the positions.

^{**}At the discretion of the Town, the Assistant to the Assessor may also be assigned ten (10) hours per workweek as the receptionist (a non-union position) from 1:30 p.m. - 3:30 p.m. (Monday through Friday).

The regular workweek and work hours for all employees set forth above is for purposes of delineating the employee's workweek and work hours during the Town's normal operating hours. Accordingly, the work hours set forth above do not include any after hours, weekend meetings or duties that employees may be required to perform outside of his/her regular workday as part of his/her responsibilities.

The Town and the Union agree that flex time of an exempt employee's regular work hours may be approved, in writing, by the First Selectman. A denial of flex time shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

In the event that the employee holding the position of Parks and Recreation Director/Social Services Representative at the time that this Agreement is executed by the parties severs employment with the Town (for any reason either at her volition or at the Town's volition), if the Town maintains either position, the Union and the Town agree to meet and discuss the position as one or two positions.

In the event that the employee holding the position of Sanitarian/Director of Health at the time that this Agreement is executed by the parties severs employment with the Town (for any reason either at her volition or at the Town's volition), if the Town maintains either position, the Union and the Town agree to meet and discuss the position as one or two positions. Additionally, if the State mandates regionalization or a state Sanitarian or Director of Health position, the parties will meet to discuss implementation of the State mandate.

In the event that the Town decides to change the hours of operation of any Town department thus requiring the need to change the regular hours of work of a bargaining unit employee (exempt or non-exempt), the Town will notify the Union prior to implementing such change.

ARTICLE VII COMPENSATION

Section 1

The pay rates for bargaining unit positions are set forth in Appendix A (exempt employees) and Appendix B (non-exempt employees) hereto and include the following general wage increases:

- Effective July 1, 2016, a general wage increase of .25% (retroactive)
- Effective July 1, 2017, a general wage increase of 2.75%.
- Effective July 1, 2018, a general wage increase of 2.75%.
- Effective July 1, 2019, a general wage increase of 2.75%.

Additionally, on January 1st of each contract year, employees not at the top step will advance to the next step on the Salary Schedule (set forth in Appendix A or Appendix B, as applicable).

Section 2

Non-Exempt Employees

Non-exempt bargaining unit positions shall be considered:

- Assistant to the Assessor
- Assistant to the Tax Collector
- Assistant to the Finance Director
- Assistant to the Town Clerk/Assistant Town Clerk
- Administrative Assistant to the Land Use Department I
- Administrative Assistant to the Land Use Department II
- Maintenance/Custodian

Exempt Employees

Exempt bargaining unit positions shall be considered:

- Assessor
- Sanitarian/Director of Health
- Park and Recreation Director/Social Services Representative

Section 3

Non-exempt employees are subject to the overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act for all hours worked (as defined under Article VI, Section 2) after forty (40) hours worked in a workweek.

Except as set forth below, such employees shall receive time and one-half (1½) for all hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a workweek.

In lieu of time and one-half (1½) for all hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours worked in a workweek, if a non-exempt employee works on a holiday (set forth under Article VIII, Section 1) or on a Sunday, the employee shall receive double time.

Double time for working on a holiday (set forth under Article VIII, Section 1), shall be in addition to holiday pay.

Section 4

The Town retains the right to require non-exempt employees to work overtime when it deems necessary. Any employee, who refuses to perform overtime work when ordered to do so, may be subject to disciplinary action.

Section 5

For purposes of computing overtime for non-exempt employees, sick leave, holidays, personal leave, vacation, jury duty and funeral leave shall not be considered hours worked.

Section 6

At the discretion of the First Selectman (or his/her designee) new members of the bargaining unit (or current members in a different bargaining unit position) may receive a percent of the negotiated salary for his/her position of between eighty-five percent (85%) and one hundred percent (100%) of the negotiated salary

On an annual basis, on July 1st an employee shall receive increases based upon the general wage increases set forth in Article VII, Section 1, provided, however, regardless of the employee's starting salary, he/she shall be at one hundred percent (100%) of the negotiated salary for his/her position no later than his/her four (4) year anniversary date in the bargaining unit position.

Section 7

Full-time employees shall receive longevity pay in accordance with the following:

As of July 1st annually, upon completion of ten (10) years of full-time service or more (up to twenty (20) years of service) with the Town, an eligible employee shall receive a lump sum payment equal to five percent (5%) of his/her straight time pay for the preceding contract year.

As of July 1st annually, upon completion of twenty (20) years of full-time service with the Town, an eligible employee shall receive a lump sum payment equal to ten percent (10%) of his/her straight time pay for the preceding contract year.

Longevity lump sum payments will be made with the first pay period in November annually.

ARTICLE VIII HOLIDAYS

Section 1

Except as set forth below, all full-time employees covered by this Agreement shall be entitled to the following paid holidays*:

New Year's Day (observed)
Martin Luther King Day (observed)
President's Day
Good Friday
Memorial Day
Independence Day (observed)
Labor Day

Columbus Day
Veteran's Day
Election Day
Thanksgiving Day
Friday after Thanksgiving
Christmas Day (observed)
Christmas Eve – 12pm dismissal

*In the event that Christmas Day falls on a Saturday (observed on Friday) and does not close Town Hall early on the preceding Thursday in observance of Christmas Eve, eligible employees shall receive a one-half (½) day floating holiday in lieu of the Christmas Eve holiday set forth above.

*In the event that Christmas Day falls on a Sunday (observed on Monday) and the Town does not close Town Hall early on the preceding Friday in observance of Christmas Eve, eligible employees shall receive a one-half (½) day floating holiday in lieu of the Christmas Eve holiday set forth above.

*In the event that Christmas Day falls on a Monday and the Town does not close Town Hall early on the preceding Friday in observance of Christmas Eve, eligible employees shall receive a one-half (½) day floating holiday in lieu of the Christmas Eve holiday set forth above to be used by mutual agreement between the employee and the First Selectman (or his/her designee).

Section 2

Except as set forth under Section 1 above, holidays falling on a Saturday shall be celebrated on the preceding Friday. Holidays falling on a Sunday shall be celebrated on the following Monday.

Section 3

To receive holiday pay, an employee must work either the day before said holiday or the day following said holiday, unless excused, in writing by the First Selectman. In the event that the First Selectman does not excuse the absence, such decision shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

Section 4

An employee out of work due to a workplace injury shall not be eligible for holiday pay during his/her absence if the employee is receiving any form of workers' compensation benefits during the absence.

Section 5

If a holiday occurs while an employee is out on sick leave, the day shall be charged as a holiday and not charged as sick leave.

ARTICLE IX INSURANCE

Section 1

A bargaining unit member who is scheduled to work thirty (30) hours or more on a regular basis, shall be eligible for health insurance benefits on the 1st day of the month after sixty (60) days of employment with the Town in a position covered by this Agreement.

HDHP Plan Design:

In year 2 of the contract (July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2018), The Town agrees to contribute fifty percent (50%) of the HDHP deductible.

For the July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2018 contract year, the Town's contribution toward the deductible will be deposited into the HSA accounts on a biannual basis (on or about July 1st and on or about January 1st).

In year 3 of the contract (July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019), The Town agrees to contribute fifty percent (50%) of the HDHP deductible;

For the July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019 contract year, the Town's contribution toward the deductible will be deposited into the HSA accounts on a biannual basis (on or about July 1st and on or about January 1st).

In year 4 of the contract (July 1, 2019 through June 30, 2020), The Town agrees to contribute fifty percent (50%) of the HDHP deductible.

For the July 1, 2019 through June 30, 2020 contract year, the Town's contribution toward the deductible will be deposited into the HSA accounts on a biannual basis (on or about July 1st and on or about January 1st).

Section 2

Premium Share Contributions - hired for a bargaining unit position prior to September 1, 2016:

	POS Plan	HDHP Plan
July 1, 2016 - June 30, 2017	18.5%	10%
July 1, 2017 - June 30, 2018	18.75%	11%
July 1, 2018 - June 30, 2019	19%	12%
July 1, 2019 - June 30, 2020	19.25%	13%

<u>Premium Share Contributions - hired for a bargaining unit position on or after September 1, 2016:</u>

	HDHP Plan
July 1, 2017 - June 30, 2018	16%
July 1, 2018 - June 30, 2019	17%
July 1, 2019 - June 30, 2020	18%

Section 3

The Town shall have the right at any time to change insurance carriers provided that the coverage is substantially equal to or better than the existing plan on an overall plan benefit basis. No changes in insurance carriers will be made without prior notification to the Union.

Section 4

Notwithstanding the above, employees may voluntarily elect to waive, in writing, all health insurance coverage outlined above and, in lieu thereof, shall receive an annual payment of one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00), two thousand dollars (\$2,000.00) or three thousand dollars (\$3,000.00) respectively, for individual, spouse, and family coverage. Payment to those employees waiving such coverage shall be made in equal payments as part of the first payroll of December and June annually.

Section 4

Eligible employees shall receive term life insurance in the amount of fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000.00) in accordance with the eligibility terms set forth by the policy.

Section 5

The Town offers a pre-tax contribution option for all employees. This employee benefit is known as a Section 125 plan. Employees electing this option shall be afforded the opportunity to make contributions toward premiums for medical insurance, dental insurance and out-of-pocket medical expenses on a pre-tax, rather than an after-tax basis.

Section 6

Medical Supplement 65: After twenty-five (25) years of service for the Town in a full-time bargaining unit position covered by this Agreement, an active employee sixty-five (65) years of age or older at the time of his/her retirement shall be eligible for a stipend of up to three hundred fifty dollars (\$350.00) per month for 65 Supplement Medical coverage (for the retiree only).

ARTICLE X VACATION

Section 1

An employee shall be credited with vacation days based upon the employee's length of continuous service with the Town as of July 1st annually.

Vacation days shall be credited in accordance with the following:

One (1) week (five (5) working days) after the first year (credited on July 1st annually);

- Two (2) weeks (ten (10) working days) after the second year (credited on July 1st annually);
- Three (3) weeks (fifteen (15) working days after the fifth year (credited annually on the employee's anniversary date);
- After ten (10) years of service, employees shall receive one (1) additional day each year to a maximum of twenty (20) days (each additional day shall be credited annually on the employee's anniversary date).

Vacation days shall be based on the employee's regular work day.

Section 2

In the event that a paid holiday falls during an employee's vacation period, the employee shall receive holiday pay and not be charged a vacation day.

Section 3

Employees may carry over a maximum of twenty (20) vacation days to the subsequent contract year.

Section 4

Upon a voluntary separation from employment (including death), an employee (or (a) his/her spouse if the employee is deceased; or (b) the employee's children if the employee's spouse is deceased; or (c) the employee's estate or designated beneficiary (the name(s) of the designated beneficiary must be provided in writing to the Town) if there is no surviving spouse or children) shall receive payment for any remaining unused, credited vacation days, provided, vacation days credited during the employee's last year of employment shall be prorated from July 1st of such contract year to the employee's last day of employment.

An employee terminated for cause (or who resigns in lieu of termination) shall not receive payment for any unused, credited vacation days.

Section 5

In the event that an eligible bargaining unit employee has exhausted his/her vacation days, the employee may be granted unpaid vacation time at the discretion of the First Selectman. In the event that a request for unpaid vacation day(s) is denied, such decision shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

ARTICLE XI SICK LEAVE

Section 1

Sick leave shall not be considered a privilege to be used at the employee's discretion but shall be used only in the event of actual illness or injury of the employee, the employee's spouse, parent(s) or children or a medical appointment.

Section 2

Employees must call the Town's call-in line ((860) 767-4340 (ext. 299)) at least thirty (30) minutes prior to the beginning of the workday to notify the Town of the sick day. Sick leave shall not be granted unless the employee has called the call-in line, as set forth herein.

Section 3

An employee shall be credited with one (1) sick day per month of full-time employment with the Town. Sick days shall be based on the employee's regular work day.

Sick days credited to an employee may accumulate to a maximum of one hundred twenty (120) days. Accordingly, an employee may not have more than one hundred twenty (120) sick days at any one time.

Section 4

The Town may require a note from the physician treating the employee for the illness causing the sick day or other proof of illness if sick leave extends beyond three (3) consecutive work days.

The Town may deny payment for sick leave if an appropriate physician's note is not provided by the employee.

Section 5

A pattern of absenteeism or abuse of absences may be the basis for discipline and/or unpaid time or other action deemed appropriate by the Town.

Section 6

Upon separation from employment (for any reason), an employee shall not receive payment for any unused, credited sick days.

ARTICLE XII PERSONAL LEAVE

Section 1

On July 1st annually, each full-time employee will be credited with three (3) personal days.

For the period from the employee's first day of employment in a position covered by this agreement through June 30th, the employee shall receive a prorated number of personal days (using the above enumerated three (3) days as a full year that is then prorated).

Personal days are not cumulative.

Section 2

A written notice that a personal day is to be taken shall be given to the employee's immediate supervisor not less than forty-eight (48) hours in advance of the day, except in case of emergencies.

Section 3

Upon separation from employment (for any reason), an employee shall not receive payment for any unused, credited personal days.

Section 4

Unpaid leaves of absence without pay for legitimate purposes for a period of between two (2) weeks to four (4) weeks may be granted to an employee upon written request to the First Selectmen or his designated representative. A notice of such leave will be supplied to the Union President. A denial of a request for an unpaid leave of absence shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

ARTICLE XIII FUNERAL LEAVE

Section 1

Employees shall receive three (3) days of funeral leave for each occurrence of a death in the employee's immediate family.

"Immediate Family" is defined as the employee's: spouse, children, father, mother, grandparents, brother, sister and grandchildren.

Employees shall receive one (1) day of funeral leave for each occurrence of a death of the employee's mother-in-law, father-in-law, aunt, uncle or first cousin for the specific purpose of attending the funeral.

Additionally, employees may, at the discretion of the First Selectman, be provided with unpaid time off to attend the funeral of other individuals, provided, a denial of such a request shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

ARTICLE XIV MILITARY LEAVE

Section 1

Military Leave shall be granted in accordance with applicable state and federal law.

ARTICLE XV FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE

Section 1

Family and Medical Leave shall be provided in accordance with the federal Family and Medical Leave Act. At the discretion of the Town, employees may use sick leave and/or vacation leave concurrently during FMLA.

ARTICLE XVI JURY DUTY

Section 1

An employee who is called to jury duty shall promptly notify his/her supervisor.

The employee shall receive remuneration for such date equal to the employee's rate of pay for the days he/she serves on jury duty less the jury duty fee.

ARTICLE XVII RETIREMENT

Section 1

Full-time bargaining unit employees employed by the Town in bargaining unit positions covered by this Agreement shall be eligible to participate in the Town of Essex Retirement Plan in accordance with the terms of such plan.

ARTICLE XVIII SENIORITY

Section 1

A seniority list shall be established by the Town showing each employee's length of continuous service as an employee of the Town in a bargaining unit position covered by this Agreement.

Section 2

All new employees shall serve a probationary period of one (1) calendar year.

All employees who have worked satisfactorily for one (1) calendar year shall be considered regular full-time employees of the bargaining unit, their probationary period will be considered completed, and their seniority will then be backdated to their date of hire as a full-time bargaining unit position covered by this Agreement.

ARTICLE XIX VACANCY

Section 1

In the event that the Town decides to fill a vacant position or creates a new bargaining unit position, notice of such position shall be posted internally and externally for a period of seven (7) work days, prior to any action being taken by the Town to fill such vacancy or new position.

Employees wishing to be considered for the position may submit their application, in writing, in accordance with the terms set forth in the notice for the position.

The Town shall select the candidate (if any) it deems to be most qualified for the vacant position.

Section 2

When an employee is assigned by the First Selectman and satisfactorily performs all of the essential duties of a supervisor position for a supervisor: (a) who is absent more than thirty (30) consecutive workdays; or (b) whose position is vacant for more than thirty (30) consecutive workdays (pending the filing of the vacant position) he/she shall receive additional compensation of five percent (5%) higher than his/her regular hourly rate of pay (commencing on the thirty-first (31st) consecutive workday).

ARTICLE XX LAYOFF AND RECALL

Section 1

Based on the Department selected for layoff(s) by the Town, layoffs shall be in inverse order of seniority within the impacted Department. Probationary employees within the impacted

Department shall be laid off first. Part-time bargaining unit employees shall be laid off subsequent to probationary employees.

Section 2

When it becomes necessary for the Town to reduce the work force, the Town shall notify the Union as soon as practical.

Section 3

Employee(s) on layoff shall retain recall rights for a period of twelve (12) months from the date of layoff. An employee who is recalled shall be so notified by certified mail, return receipt requested, and shall be expected to report for duty no more than ten (10) days after receipt of such notification. The time limit may be waived by agreement of the parties. Recalled employees shall return to the same status they held on the date of layoff in terms vacation and sick leave accumulation, and all other benefits (including pension to the extent permitted).

ARTICLE XXI DISCIPLINE

Section 1

A non-probationary employee shall not be disciplined without just cause.

Section 2

Depending on the seriousness of the alleged infraction, the level of discipline shall normally be as follows:

- 1. Verbal warning.
- 2. Written warning.
- 3. Suspension without pay.
- 4. Discharge.

The Town and the Union agree that the Town may take disciplinary action without the need for progressive discipline either: (1) when an offense is of such a nature that warrants it.

Section 3

The parties agree that verbal warnings and written warnings shall not be subject to arbitration under the grievance procedure set forth herein under Article V.

ARTICLE XXII MISCELLANEOUS

Section 1

If any illness or injury results in a disability that has prevented the employee from performing the essential functions of the position (with or without a reasonable accommodation) for a period of twelve (12) months or longer, the Town shall have the right to retire or discharge the employee.

Section 2

Employees shall complete the necessary documentation requested by the Town in order for the Town to pay the employee via direct deposit. Employees shall be paid on a bi-weekly basis.

Section 3

Unless authorized by the First Selectman, Town vehicles and/or equipment shall not be used for personal use and may only be used for work related activities.

Section 4

The Town may implement an electronic time keeping system (or other means of recording hours) that all employees are required to use to record their time worked (and lunch period).

Section 5

Employee shall record his/her time worked on a time sheet and/or by means of an electronic time clock. The First Selectperson or his/her designee shall determine whether or not employees are required to punch time cards and/or fill out time sheets. An employee punching in for another employee and the employee who is being punched in for shall be subject to discipline if an employee punches in or out for another employee.

Section 6

Job descriptions may be changed or created as necessary by the Board of Selectpersons.

Section 7

Any employee who engages in employment outside of his/her regular working hours shall be expected and required to perform duties for the Town first. The Town shall not be liable for any injury to an employee while he/she is engaged in outside employment or for any occupational illness or injury attributed thereto.

Outside employment shall not be prohibited by any term(s) of this Agreement except that said employment shall not conflict with the employee's position with the Town and/or with the faithful performance of the employee's duties on behalf of the Town.

Section 8

Employees must call the Town's call-in line ((860) 767-4340 (ext. 299)) prior to the beginning of the workday to notify the Town if the employee is going to be late.

Additionally, employees must advise their Department Head, the First Selectman, or the First Selectman's designee for any unplanned personal reason prior to leaving work.

Section 9

Full-time bargaining unit employees may receive tuition reimbursement for courses that are job related (as determined by the First Selectman) or required to be taken by the Town (as determined by the First Selectman).

In order to receive reimbursement for courses that meet the above-noted criteria, the eligible employee must first submit a written request to the First Selectman prior to enrollment in the course.

Eligible employees shall receive reimbursement of an aggregate amount of up to seven hundred fifty dollars (\$750.00) per contract year provided the employee receives a grade of C or better (or a pass in a pass/fail course). Such reimbursement shall include the cost of text books required for the course.

In order to receive reimbursement, the eligible employee must submit a receipt for the tuition and books as well as a transcript to the First Selectman.

In the event that an employees request for tuition reimbursement is denied, such denial shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure.

ARTICLE XXIII DURATION

Section 1

This Agreement shall be effective upon execution of both parties and shall remain in full force and effect until June 30, 2020. This contract shall remain in effect upon expiration and during negotiation until agreement is reached and signed to amend or modify this Agreement. At least one hundred twenty (120) days before the expiration date of this contract, the parties agree to meet and discuss a new Agreement.

If as of January 1, 2020, the total cost of a group health plan or plans offered under this Agreement meets the thresholds that would trigger an excise tax under the Internal Revenue Code Section 4980I, the parties agree to reopen this Agreement for the sole purpose of negotiating over health insurance.

Norman M. Needleman, First Selectman	FOR COUNCIL 4, AFSCME, AFL-CIO Mary Ellen Barnes, President
3/27/17 Date	Lisa Fasulo, Negotiation Team
Nicholas Grello, Town Negotiator	Lynn Skinner, Negotiation Team
3-30-17 Date	3-24-17 Date
	Scott Soares, Staff Representative Connecticut Council 4 AFSCME, AFL-CIO 3 2 1 17 Date

Appendix A Exempt Employees Salary Schedule

Assessor				
	2016 - 2017	2017 - 2018	2018 - 2019	2019 - 2020
	3.00%	2.75%	2.75%	2.75%
STEP 1 (85% of Salary Max)	\$60,595	\$62,262	\$63,974	\$65,733
STEP 2 (88.75% of Salary Max)	\$63,269	\$65,009	\$66,796	\$68,633
STEP 3 (92.5% of Salary Max)	\$65,942	\$67,756	\$69,619	\$71,533
STEP 4 (96.25% of Salary Max)	\$68,615	\$70,502	\$72,441	\$74,433
STEP 5 (100% of Salary Max)	\$71,289	\$73,249	\$75,264	\$77,333

Sanitarian/Director of Health				
	2016 - 2017 2017 - 2018		2018 - 2019	2019 - 2020
	3.00%	2.75%	2.75%	2.75%
STEP 1 (85% of Salary Max)	\$70,695	\$72,639	\$74,636	\$76,689
STEP 2 (88,75% of Salary Max)	\$73,813	\$75,843	\$77,929	\$80,072
STEP 3 (92.5% of Salary Max)	\$76,932	\$79,048	\$81,222	\$83,455
STEP 4 (96.25% of Salary Max)	\$80,051	\$82,252	\$84,514	\$86,839
STEP 5 (100% of Salary Max)	\$83,170	\$85,457	\$87,807	\$90,222

Park & Recreation Director/Social Services Representative				
	2016 - 2017	2017 - 2018	2018 - 2019	2019 - 2020
	3.00%	2.75%	2.75%	2.75%
STEP 1 (85% of Salary Max)	\$55,650	\$57,181	\$58,753	\$60,369
STEP 2 (88.75% of Salary Max)	\$58,106	\$59,703	\$61,345	\$63,032
STEP 3 (92.5% of Salary Max)	\$60,561	\$62,226	\$63,937	\$65,696
STEP 4 (96.25% of Salary Max)	\$63,016	\$64,749	\$66,529	\$68,359
STEP 5 (100% of Salary Max)	\$65,471	\$67,271	\$69,121	\$71,022

Appendix B Non-Exempt Employees Salary Schedule

Maintenance/Custodiau				
	2016 - 2017	2017 - 2018	2018 - 2019	2019 - 2020
	3.00%	2.75%	2.75%	2.75%
STEP 1 (85% of Salary Max)	\$18.45	\$18.96	\$19.48	\$20.02
STEP 2 (88.75% of Salary Max)	\$19.27	\$19.80	\$20.34	\$20.90
STEP 3 (92.5% of Salary Max)	\$20.08	\$20.63	\$21.20	\$21.78
STEP 4 (96.25% of Salary Max)	\$20.90	\$21,47	\$22.06	\$22.67
STEP 5 (100% of Salary Max)	\$21.71	\$22.31	\$22.92	\$23.55

Administrative Assistant to the Land Use Department - I				
	FY 2016/2017	FY 2017/2018	FY 2018/2019	FY 2019/2020
	3.00%	2.75%	2.75%	2.75%
STEP 1 (85% of Max Wage Rate)	\$21.12	\$21.70	\$22.30	\$22.91
STEP 2 (88.75% of Max Wage Rate)	\$22.05	\$22.66	\$23.28	\$23.92
STEP 3 (92.5% of Max Wage Rate)	\$22.99	\$23.62	\$24.27	\$24.94
STEP 4 (96.25% of Max Wage Rate)	\$23.92	\$24.58	\$25.25	\$25.95
STEP 5 (100% of Max Wage Rate)	\$24.85	\$25.53	\$26.24	\$26.96

Assistant to Assessor Assistant to Tax Collector Assistant to Town Clerk Administrative Assistant to the Land Use Department - H				
	2016 - 2017	2017 - 2018	2018 - 2019	2019 - 2020
	3.00%	2.75%	2.75%	2,75%
STEP 1 (85% of Max Wage Rate)	\$22.60	\$23.22	\$23.86	\$24.52
STEP 2 (88.75% of Max Wage Rate)	\$23.60	\$24.25	\$24.91	\$25.60
STEP 3 (92.5% of Max Wage Rate)	\$24.60	\$25.27	\$25.97	\$26.68
STEP 4 (96.25% of Max Wage Rate)	\$25.59	\$26.30	\$27.02	\$27.76
STEP 5 (100% of Max Wage Rate)	\$26.59	\$27.32	\$28.07	\$28.84

Assistant to Director of Finance				
	2016 - 2017	2017 - 2018	2018 - 2019	2019 - 2020
	3.00%	2,75%	2.75%	2.75%
STEP 1 (85% of Max Wage Rate)	\$25.87	\$26.58	\$27.31	\$28.06
STEP 2 (88.75% of Max Wage Rate)	\$27.01	\$27.75	\$28,51	\$29.30
STEP 3 (92.5% of Max Wage Rate)	\$28.15	\$28.92	\$29.72	\$30.53
STEP 4 (96.25% of Max Wage Rate)	\$29.29	\$30.10	\$30.93	\$31.77
STEP 5 (100% of Max Wage Rate)	\$30.43	\$31.27	\$32.13	\$33.01



Council 4

Yes! I am AFSCME Strong.

I want a strong voice at work and in my community

Yes, sign me up to:

- Talk to colleagues at work
- Make phone calls to AFSCME members for campaigns
- Knock AFSCME member doors during campaigns

Membership — Public Sector

Lacal Niverships

American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees Membership and Authorization for Dues Deduction

I hereby apply for mombership in Council 4 (hereafter "Union") and I agree to abide by its Constitution and Bylaws I authorize the Union and its successor or assign to act as my exclusive bargaining representative for purposes of collective bargaining with respect to wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment with my Employer

Effective immediately, I hereby voluntarily authorize and direct my Employer to deduct from my pay each pay period, regardless of whether I am or remain a member of the Union, the amount of dues certified by the Union, and as they may be adjusted periodically by the Union, and to authorize my Employer to remit such amount monthly to the Union

This voluntary authorization and assignment shall remain in effect in accordance with the applicable collective-bargaining agreement. If the applicable collective-bargaining agreement does not address revocation, then this voluntary authorization and assignment shall be irrevocable, regardless of whether I am or remain a member of the Union, for a period of one year from the date of execution or until the termination date of the collective bargaining agreement (if there is one) between the Employer and the Union, whichever occurs sooner, and for year to year thereafter unless I give the Employer and the Union written notice of revocation not less than ten (10) days and not more than twenty (20) days before the end of any yearly period. The applicable collectivebargaining agreement is available for review, upon request. This card supersedes any prior check-off authorization card I signed. I recognize that my authorization of dues deductions, and the continuation of such authorization from one year to the next, is voluntary and not a condition of my employment.

Payments to the Union are not deductible as charitable donations for federal income tax purposes However, they may be tax deductible as ordinary and necessary business expenses.

PLEASE PRINT LEGIBLY

Last Name	First Name		MJ
Street. Address		-	Apt No
City		State	ZIP Code
Social Security Number		Payroil No	
Department	_	Telephone No	
Signature		Effective Date	

Notice: In order to comply with Internal Revenue Service rulings, be advised that your membership dues are not deductible for federal income tax purpose

\$8.35/ month (\$100 a)

	TOTAL		Į.	Весоте	a PEOI	PLE N	IVP	10
hereby	authorize my	employer and	associated	l agencies t	o deduct,	each p	ay pe	rioc
he amo	ount certified as	a voluntary cor	ntribution	to be paid t	o the treas	surer of	Ame	rica
ederati	on of State, Co	unty and Munic	cipal Empl	oyees PEOP	LE, AFSCN	ME, AFL	-CIO,	PC

Deduction Per Pay Period
(26 pp/yr)

□ \$4 MVP □ \$8
□ Other J
Circle jacket size.
5 M L XL 2XL Other

For Office Use Only

Contribution

Box 65334, Washington, D.C. 20035-5334, to be used for the purpose of making political contributions and expenditures. My contribution is voluntary, and I understand that it is not required as a condition of membership in any organization, or as a condition of continued employment, and is free of reprisal. I understand that any contribution guideline is only a suggestion and I am free to contribute more or less than that amount and will not be favored or disadvantaged due to the amount of my contribution.

or refusal to contribute, and that I may revoke this authorization at any time by giving written notice.

Signature	 	 Date

In accordance with the federal law, AFSCME PEOPLE will accept contributions only from members of AFSCME and their families. Contributions from other persons will be returned. Contributions or gifts to AFSCME PEOPLE are not deductible as charitable contributions for federal income tax purposes.

	AFSCME "
mually).	PEOPLE
PLEASE PRINT LEGIBLY	

PLEASE PRINT LEGIBLY					
ast Name	First Name		M.I		
itreel Address		-	Apt No		
Ity State		_	ZIP Code		
ocial Security Number		Employee's No (If Any		
Occupation		Job Title			
mployer	-				
lome Phone		Business Phone			
arat kaldana					

